FILED 12-16-15 Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington

No. 73325-7-I

# IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION ONE

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

DAVID THOMPSON,

Appellant.

### ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR SAN JUAN COUNTY

The Honorable Alan R. Hancock

#### **BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

THOMAS M. KUMMEROW Attorney for Appellant

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 587-2711

####

#### B. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. There was insufficient evidence presented that Mr. Thompson assaulted Robbie Speers with a deadly weapon.
- 2. Deputy Harvey's opinion regarding the truthfulness of Robbie Speers's allegations impermissibly invaded the province of the jury and violated Mr. Thompson's constitutionally protected right to a fair trial and right to a jury.
- 3. The trial court erred in imposing Legal Financial Obligations (LFOs) in the absence of an individualized inquiry into Mr.

  Thompson's ability to pay.

#### C. <u>ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR</u>

- 1. Due process requires the State prove every element of the charged offense. Mr. Thompson was charged with assaulting Robbie Speers with a deadly weapon. The State provided a pellet gun, which the Washington State Patrol Crime Laboratory showed was a deadly weapon, but which all of the witnesses testified was not the weapon that Mr. Thompson brandished. Did the State prove all of the essential elements of the charged offense?
- 2. A witness may not comment or opine about the credibility of another witness. Such improper vouching violates the defendant's right to a fair trial and right to a jury trial. Here, a police officer stated his unsolicited opinion regarding the truthfulness of Robbie Speers, thus bolstering the credibility of the witness. This error was compounded when the prosecutor in closing argument referenced Deputy Harvey's opinion to persuade the jury Robbie Speers was telling the truth. Did the officer's unsolicited opinion constitute improper vouching, thus violating Mr. Thompson's right to a fair trial and right to a jury trial?
- 3. A court may impose discretionary LFOs only after making an individualized assessment on the record of the defendant's financial situation and determining his ability to pay. The court here imposed

over \$1400 in discretionary LFOs without making any finding regarding Mr. Thompson's financial circumstances or his ability to pay. Is Mr. Thompson entitled to reversal of his sentence and remand for a new sentencing hearing?

#### D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

David Thompson's mother, Juanita Manley, is married to Earling Manley. 10/21/2014RP 241. Mr. Thompson lived with his girlfriend in an apartment above a detached garage on Mr. Manley's property on Orcas Island. 10/20/2014RP 163.

Robbie Speers and his brother, Adrian Speers lived in the basement of Mr. Manley's home. 10/20/2014RP 162-63. Mr. Manley is Robbie and Adrian Speers' grandfather. 10/21/2014RP 241.

On January 3, 2014, Robbie, Adrian, and their friend, Barry Sharpe, were watching television. 10/20/2014RP 164. Mr. Sharpe had his dog with him and had let him outside. 10/20/2014RP 164; 10/21/2014RP 307. Mr. Thompson's female dog was already outside and the two dogs began playing together. 10/20/2014RP 164. A few minutes later, the young men heard barking, looked outside, and saw Mr. Thompson's male dog and Mr. Sharpe's dog fighting. 10/21/2014RP 309. Mr. Sharpe, Robbie Speers and Mr. Thompson

came outside, separated the dogs, and took them into their respective residences. 10/21/2014RP 166. According to Mr. Sharpe, Mr. Thompson blamed Mr. Sharpe's dog for biting him when he was trying to separate the dogs, and vowed to put down Mr. Sharpe's dog. 10/20/2014RP 167.

According to Robbie Speers, Mr. Thompson came into the basement apartment carrying a gun. 10/20/2014RP 168. Mr. Thompson said he was going to shoot Mr. Sharpe's dog. 10/20/2014RP 168.

According to Robbie Speers, Mr. Thompson said that if he got in the way, he would shoot Mr. Speers. 10/20/2014RP 168. Mr. Speers pushed the barrel of the gun away from him and he and Mr. Thompson began fighting. 10/20/2014RP 170. At some point, Mr. Thompson left the basement apartment and went to his residence. 10/20/2014RP 170.

Robbie Speers called the police. 10/20/2014RP 170.

Mr. Thompson was arrested and charged with second degree assault with a deadly weapon and felony harassment. CP 42-43.<sup>1</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Mr. Thompson was convicted of these offenses and one count of possession of a dangerous weapon in a previous jury trial, and sentenced for those offenses. Mr. Thompson was granted a new trial for the State's violation of *Brady v. Maryland*, 373 U.S.83, 83 S.Ct. 1194, 10 L.Ed.2d 215 (1963), which is the subject of this appeal. CP 70-74, 81-91, 112-13.

Deputy Raymond Harvey, who responded to the 911 call, testified about his interview with Robbie Speers:

Q; And did you talk to him about it?

A: I did.

Q: What was his demeanor?

A: He was breathing heavy and very point blank with his story with me.

Q: What do you mean by point blank?

A: Meaning there wasn't any hesitation in what he relayed to me.

Q: Why is that significant?

A: Generally, somebody making a story up has some hesitation because they actually have to think about what they are saying rather than recalling the information from memory.

Q: Are you saying that based on your experience as a law enforcement officer?

A: I am.

10/21/2015RP 291. Mr. Thompson did not object to this testimony.

The deputies seized, and the State crime laboratory tested, a pellet gun from the garage below Mr. Thompson's apartment.

10/21/2014RP 299. Based upon his testing, the crime lab employee opined that the pellet gun was a deadly weapon. 10/21/2014RP 328-31, 335-36. Robbie Speers and Mr. Sharpe testified this pellet gun was not

the gun they had observed Mr. Thompson possessing. 10/21/2014RP 245, 320.

Nevertheless, the jury convicted Mr. Thompson of felony harassment and second degree assault. CP 137-38.

At sentencing, without inquiring whether Mr. Thompson had any ability to pay LFOs, the court imposed \$1400 in LFOs, of which only \$600 arguably were mandatory fees. CP 170; 2/27/2015RP 11-12.

#### E. ARGUMENT

- 1. The State failed to prove Mr. Thompson used a deadly weapon in the assault.
  - a. The State bears the burden of proving each of the essential elements of the charged offense beyond a reasonable doubt.

The State is required to prove each element of the crime charged beyond a reasonable doubt. U.S. Const. amend XIV; *Apprendi v. New Jersey*, 530 U.S. 466, 471, 120 S.Ct. 2348, 147 L.Ed.2d 435 (2000); *In re Winship*, 397 U.S. 358, 364, 90 S.Ct. 1068, 25 L.Ed.2d 368 (1970). The standard the reviewing court uses in analyzing a claim of insufficiency of the evidence is "[w]hether, after viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the prosecution, any rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt." *Jackson v. Virginia*, 443 U.S. 307, 319, 99 S.Ct.

2781, 61 L.Ed.2d 560 (1979). A challenge to the sufficiency of evidence admits the truth of the State's evidence and all reasonable inferences that can be drawn therefrom. *State v. Salinas*, 119 Wn.2d 192, 201, 829 P.2d 1068 (1992).

Here, the State charged Mr. Thompson with assaulting Robbie Speers with a deadly weapon. Thus, the State was required to prove Mr. Thompson had a deadly weapon, a fact it failed to prove. As a consequence, Mr. Thompson is entitled to reversal of his conviction.

b. The State failed to prove Mr. Thompson assaulted Robbie Speers with a deadly weapon.

"A person is guilty of assault in the second degree if he or she, under circumstances not amounting to assault in the first degree: ... (c) Assaults another with a deadly weapon". RCW 9A.36.021(1). An item is a deadly weapon if, under the circumstances in which it is used, it is readily capable of causing death or substantial bodily harm. RCW 9A.04.110(6). RCW 9A.04.110(6) defines a "deadly weapon" as:

any explosive or loaded or unloaded firearm, and shall include any other weapon, device, instrument, article ... which, under the circumstances in which it is used, attempted to be used, or threatened to be used, is readily capable of causing death or substantial bodily harm[.]

The State's theory was that Mr. Thompson assaulted Robbie

Speers with the pellet gun the police seized and which the State tested

and alleged was a deadly weapon. But, each of the people present at the time of the argument between Mr. Thompson and Robbie Speers testified that this pellet gun was not the gun with which Mr. Thompson was armed. *See* RP 245 (Robbie Speers); RP 320 (Barry Sharp).

The decision in *State v. Carlson* is instructive on this issue. 65 Wn.App. 153, 828 P.2d 30, review denied, 119 Wn.2d 1022 (1992). In Carlson, the defendant pointed a gun, which appeared to be a rifle, at the victim and held the barrel several inches from his face. Carlson, 65 Wn.App. at 154-55. The victim pushed the gun away, after which the defendant held it as if he were preparing to strike the victim. *Id.* at 155. The gun was not placed in evidence, and the defendant testified it was an inoperative BB gun. *Id.* The trial court did not find directly that the BB gun was a deadly weapon. *Id.* at 157. On appeal of his conviction for second degree assault, the defendant argued the BB gun was not a deadly weapon in fact because it was inoperative. The appellate court agreed, framing the issue as "whether the weapon 'as used' was 'readily capable of causing ... substantial bodily harm.' " *Id.* at 159. Because the gun was not in evidence and the only testimony as to whether the gun was "readily capable" came from the defendant, the

court concluded there was insufficient proof the weapon was deadly. *Id.* at 161-62.

Here, the gun placed into evidence and deemed to be a deadly weapon was not the weapon used. Whatever object Mr. Thompson may have used was never determined to be a deadly weapon nor was it ever shown that the manner in which it was used was readily capable of causing substantial bodily harm. As in *Carlson*, the "gun" very well could have been an inoperative gun not readily capable of causing death or substantial bodily harm. As a result, the State failed to prove Mr. Thompson used a deadly weapon.

c. Mr. Thompson's conviction for second degree assault must be reversed with instructions to dismiss.

Since there was insufficient evidence to support the second degree assault conviction in Count I, this Court must reverse the conviction with instructions to dismiss. To do otherwise would violate double jeopardy. *State v. Crediford*, 130 Wn.2d 747, 760-61, 927 P.2d 1129 (1996) (the Double Jeopardy Clause of the United States Constitution "forbids a second trial for the purpose of affording the prosecution another opportunity to supply evidence which it failed to muster in the first proceeding."), *quoting Burks v. United States*, 437 U.S. 1, 9, 98 S.Ct. 2141, 57 L.Ed.2d 1 (1978).

- 2. The improper opinion of Deputy Harvey concerning the truthfulness of Robbie Speers impermissibly invaded the province of the jury.
  - a. Improper vouching by a police officer violates a defendant's rights to a fair trial and a jury.

The role of the jury is to be held "inviolate." U.S. Const. amend. VI; Const. art. I, §§ 21, 22. The right to have factual questions decided by the jury is crucial to the right to trial by jury. *Sofie v. Fibreboard Corp.*, 112 Wn.2d 636, 656, 771 P.2d 711 (1989). Under the Constitution, the jury has "the ultimate power to weigh the evidence and determine the facts." *State v. Montgomery*, 163 Wn.2d 577, 589-90, 183 P.3d 267 (2008), *quoting James v. Robeck*, 79 Wn.2d 864, 869, 490 P.2d 878 (1971).

In addition, an accused is guaranteed the right to a fair trial by an impartial jury. U.S. Const. amend. VI; Const. art. I, §§ 3, 21, 22. Lay witness opinion testimony about the defendant's guilt invades that right. *State v. Johnson*, 152 Wn.App. 924, 934, 219 P.3d 958 (2009); *State v. Carlin*, 40 Wn.App. 698, 701, 700 P.2d 323 (1985).

Generally, no witness may offer testimony in the form of an opinion regarding the guilt or veracity of the defendant; such testimony is unfairly prejudicial to the defendant "because it 'invad[es] the exclusive province of the [jury]." *City of Seattle v. Heatley*, 70

Wn.App. 573, 577, 854 P.2d 658 (1993), citing State v. Black, 109 Wn.2d 336, 348, 745 P.2d 12 (1987).

Admitting impermissible opinion testimony regarding the defendant's guilt may be reversible error because admitting such evidence "violates [the defendant's] constitutional right to a jury trial, including the independent determination of the facts by the jury." *Carlin,* 40 Wn.App. at 701; *see also Dubria v. Smith,* 224 F.3d 995, 1001-02 (9th Cir., 2000) (suggesting that the admission of taped interviews containing police statements challenging the defendant's veracity may also violate the defendant's right to due process), *cert. denied,* 531 U.S. 1148 (2001).

In determining whether such statements are impermissible opinion testimony, courts consider the circumstances of the case, including the following factors: "(1) 'the type of witness involved,' (2) 'the specific nature of the testimony,' (3) 'the nature of the charges,' (4) 'the type of defense, and' (5) 'the other evidence before the trier of fact.'" *State v. Demery*, 144 Wn.2d 753, 758-59, 30 P.3d 1278 (2001), *quoting Heatley*, 70 Wn.App. at 579.

There are some areas which are clearly inappropriate for opinion testimony in criminal trials, particularly expressions of personal belief,

as to the guilt of the defendant, the intent of the accused, or the veracity of witnesses. Demery, 144 Wn.2d at 759; State v. Farr-Lenzini, 93 Wn.App. 453, 463, 970 P.2d 313 (1999). This is especially true for police officers because their testimony carries an "aura of reliability." Demery, 144 Wn.2d at 765. Police officers' opinions on guilt have low probative value because their area of expertise is in determining when an arrest is appropriate, not in determining when there is guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. See Montgomery, 163 Wn.2d at 595, citing Deon J. Nossel, Note: the Admissibility of Ultimate Issue Expert Testimony by Law Enforcement Officers in Criminal Trials, 93 Colum. L.Rev. 231, 244 (1993) ("Once [the expert] had testified as to the likely drug transaction-related significance of each piece of physical evidence, the jury was competent to draw its own conclusion as to [the defendant's] involvement in the distribution of cocaine." (citing United States v. Boissoneault, 926 F.2d 230, 233 (2d Cir.1991)).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> This rule is grounded in the Rules of Evidence. Testimony that tells the jury which result to reach is likely not helpful to the jury (as required by ER 702), is probably outside the witness's area of expertise (in violation of ER 703), and is likely to be unfairly prejudicial (in violation of ER 403).

b. Deputy Harvey's opinion regarding the truthfulness of Robbie Speers constituted improper opinion testimony.

Here, Deputy Harvey opined that, based upon his law enforcement experience, Robbie Speers was telling the truth. 10/21/2014RP 291. This was an improper opinion that invaded the province of the jury. *State v. Kirkman*, 159 Wn.2d 918, 928, 155 P.3d 125 (2007) (police officer's opinion testimony may be especially prejudicial because the "officer's testimony often carries a special aura of reliability.").

The error was compounded when the prosecutor in her closing argument pointed out to the jury that Deputy Harvey's opinion was "evidence that what Robbie Speers says is true." 10/22/2014RP RP 421-22.

Deputy Harvey's conduct was no different from the two police officers who rendered their opinions that a fact witness was telling the truth when he gave a statement to the police. *State v. Wilber*, 55 Wn.App. 294, 298-99, 777 P.2d 36 (1989). The officers testified that they had been given special training to enable them to determine whether or not someone was telling the truth. Over defense objection, the court allowed them to testify that, in their opinion, the witness was telling the truth when he gave his original statement to the police.

*Wilber*, 55 Wn.App. at 297. While the Court of Appeals found the opinion testimony evidence harmless, the Court nevertheless found the testimony improper. *Id.* at 298-99.

Deputy Harvey's opinion testimony here was improper. This Court should reverse Mr. Thompson's convictions.

c. The error is manifest and of constitutional magnitude allowing Mr. Thompson to raise the issue despite the lack of an objection.

In general, appellate courts will not consider issues raised for the first time on appeal. RAP 2.5(a); *Kirkman*, 159 Wn.2d at 926. But a party can raise an error for the first time on appeal if it is a manifest error affecting a constitutional right. RAP 2.5(a)(3); *Kirkman*, 159 Wn.2d at 926. The defendant must show the constitutional error actually affected his rights at trial, thereby demonstrating the actual prejudice that makes an error "manifest" and allows review. *Kirkman*, 159 Wn.2d at 926-27. "If a court determines the claim raises a manifest constitutional error, it may still be subject to the harmless error analysis." *Id.* at 927.

The infringement on the province of the fact-finder suggests an error of constitutional magnitude. *Demery*, 144 Wn.2d at 759.

"Admission of witness opinion testimony on an ultimate fact, without

objection, is not automatically reviewable as a 'manifest' constitutional error." *Kirkman*, 159 Wn.2d at 936. But, "an explicit or nearly explicit" opinion on a victim's credibility can constitute manifest error. *Id.* at 936, 155 P.3d 125 (noting, "[r]equiring an explicit or almost explicit witness statement on an ultimate issue of fact is consistent with our precedent holding the manifest error exception is narrow").

"Manifest error" requires a nearly explicit statement by the witness that the witness believed the accusing victim. *Kirkman*, 159 Wn.2d at 936. Here, such a statement occurred. Deputy Harvey stated that based upon Mr. Speer's emotional and physiological response, he was not making up a story, *ergo*, he was telling the truth. As a consequence, Mr. Thompson may raise the issue for the first time on appeal absent an objection. *Id.* at 938.

d. The prosecutor committed misconduct in taking advantage of Deputy Harvey's improper testimony.

Prosecutors represent the State as quasi-judicial officers and they have a "duty to subdue their courtroom zeal for the sake of fairness to a criminal defendant." *State v. Fisher*, 165 Wn.2d 727, 746, 202 P.3d 937 (2009). "A "[f]air trial" certainly implies a trial in which the attorney representing the state does not throw the prestige of his public office . . . and the expression of his own belief of guilt into the

P.3d 551 (2011) (alteration in original), *quoting State v. Case*, 49 Wn.2d 66, 71, 298 P.2d 500 (1956). Prosecutorial misconduct may deprive a defendant of his constitutional right to a fair trial. *State v. Davenport*, 100 Wn.2d 757, 762, 675 P.2d 1213 (1984).

The prosecuting attorney is the representative of the sovereign and the community; therefore it is the prosecutor's duty to see that justice is done. Berger v. United States, 295 U.S. 78, 88, 55 S.Ct. 629, 79 L.Ed. 1314 (1934). This duty includes an obligation to prosecute a defendant impartially and to seek a verdict free from prejudice and based upon reason. State v. Charlton, 90 Wn.2d 657, 664, 585 P.2d 142 (1978). Because "the prosecutor's opinion carries with it the imprimatur of the Government and may induce the jury to trust the Government's judgment rather than its own view of the evidence," appellate courts must exercise care to insure that prosecutorial comments have not unfairly "exploited the Government's prestige in the eyes of the jury." United States v. Young, 470 U.S. 1, 18-19, 105 S.Ct. 1038, 84 L.Ed.2d 1 (1985). Because the average jury has confidence that the prosecuting attorney will faithfully observe his or her special obligations as the representative of a sovereign whose

interest "is not that it shall win a case, but that justice shall be done," his or her improper suggestions "are apt to carry much weight against the accused when they should properly carry none." *Berger*, 295 U.S. at 88.

It is misconduct for a prosecutor to expresses his or her personal belief as to the truthfulness of a witness. *State v. Ish*, 170 Wn.2d 189, 196, 241 P.3d 389 (2010). "Whether a witness has testified truthfully is entirely for the jury to determine." *Id.* 

Here, the prosecutor vouched for the truthfulness of Robbie Speers when she argued to the jury that Deputy Harvey had determined that Mr. Speers was telling the truth. This was misconduct and took advantage of the improper opinion testimony of Deputy Harvey.

e. The error in admitting Deputy Harvey's improper opinion testimony was not a harmless error.

Since improper opinions on guilt invade the jury's province and thus violate the defendant's constitutional right, courts apply the constitutional harmless error standard to determine if the error was harmless. *State v. Hudson*, 150 Wn.App. 646, 656, 208 P.3d 1236 (2009); *State v. Thach*, 126 Wn.App. 297, 312-13, 106 P.3d 782 (2005). Under this standard it is presumed that the constitutional error was prejudicial, and the State must prove beyond a reasonable doubt

that any reasonable jury would have reached the same result absent the error. *State v. Watt*, 160 Wn.2d 626, 635, 160 P.3d 640 (2007); *Thach*, 126 Wn.App. at 313.

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