FILED 3-17-16

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

DAVID DALE THOMPSON,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF SAN JAUN, STATE OF WASHINGTON Superior Court No. 14-1-05001-9

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

RANDALL K. GAYLORD Prosecuting Attorney

RANDALL A. SUTTON Special Deputy Prosecuting Attorney 614 Division Street Port Orchard, WA 98366 (360) 337-7174

SERVICE

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

Kirkman, 159 Wn.2d at 928 (internal citation omitted).

1. Type of witness and specific testimony.

Here, Deputy Harvey, an investigating police officer, came upon Speers at the scene of the incident. 2RP 290. Harvey described his demeanor as breathing heavily and "very point blank with his story to me." 2RP 291. This exchange with the prosecutor continued:

- Q. What do you mean by point blank?
- A. Meaning there wasn't any hesitation in what he relayed to me.
- Q. Why is that significant?

- A. Generally, somebody making a story up has some hesitation because they actually have to think about what they are saying rather than recalling the information from memory.
- Q. Are you saying that based on your experience as a law enforcement officer?
- A. I am.

2RP 291. The opinion, then, does not provide the jury with Officer Harvey's personal opinion as to Speers's credibility or Thompson's guilt. It is, rather, a comment on that witness' demeanor and manner of imparting the information. Notably, the officer did not testify to Speers's actual remarks, nor did the State seek to illicit that hearsay. This is particularly significant in that the remarks about Speers say nothing about David Thompson. There simply is not enough here to support an argument that the remarks were an opinion as to Thompson's guilt. *See State v. Barr*, 123 Wn. App. 373, 378-79, 98 P.3d 518 (2004) (improper opinion where interrogating officer testified, *inter alia*, that defendant acted like people who "feel guilty").

Nonetheless, "testimony from a law enforcement officer regarding the veracity of another witness may be especially prejudicial because an officer's testimony often carries a special aura of reliability." *Kirkman* 159 Wn.2d at 928. In *Kirkman*, a detective who interviewed a child sex abuse victim testified as to the protocol used to ascertain whether or not the child will tell the truth. The detective testified that he was interested

"in this person being able to distinguish between truth and lies." *Kirkman* 159 Wn.2d at 930. The detective found and testified that the child victim was in fact able to distinguish the truth from lies and had expressly promised to tell the truth. *Kirkman* 159 Wn.2d at 931. The Court of Appeals reversed the conviction in part because it found that this was an impermissible opinion.

The Supreme Court reversed the Court of Appeals. *Kirkman* 159 Wn.2d at 938. The Court observed that "[the detective] did not testify that he believed [the victim] or that she was telling the truth." *Kirkman* 159 Wn.2d at 931. There was thus no impropriety:

By testifying as to this interview protocol, Kerr "merely provided the necessary context that enabled the jury to assess the reasonableness of the ... responses." *Demery*, 144 Wn.2d at 764. Detectives often use a similar protocol in all child witness interviews, whether they believe the child witness or not.

An interview protocol as employed by Kerr does not carry a "special aura of reliability" beyond the "special aura of reliability" conferred upon a witness when a judge swears him or her to tell the truth in front of the jury at trial. *See* RCW 5.28.020. A jury must still determine credibility and truthfulness of each witness. Kerr's testimony was not a manifest error of constitutional magnitude.

Kirkman 159 Wn.2d at 931 (editing the Court's).

Similarly, in the present case, Deputy Harvey did not say he believed that Speers was telling the truth. His testimony was akin to the testimony in *Kirkman*. He merely provided "necessary context" for the

jury's job of determining Speers's credibility. Moreover, it is questionable whether or not this was even expert testimony; the foundation is likely inadequate to allow the officer to be endorsed as an expert. *See State v. Demery*, 144 Wn.2d 753, 760, 30 P.3d 1278 (2001) (opinion testimony can be defined as testimony based on one's belief or idea rather than direct knowledge of facts at issue). The remarks are more consistent with common sense and observation of facts than with any special training a police officer may have received. And this provides even less reason to find that these remarks had any special aura of reliability.

2. The charge, the defense, and the other evidence.

The charges were second-degree assault and harassment. The ultimate facts, then, were that Thompson pointed a firearm (or deadly weapon) at the victim and threatened to shoot if the victims did not get out of his way. The defense was a general denial. 1RP 144. More particularly, the trial court asked of defense counsel "you are saying that Mr. Thompson never engaged in any of the acts the State is alleging he engaged in?" 1RP 144. Defense counsel responded "that's his position."

Id. Upon further inquiry defense counsel confirmed:

So the defense is that Mr. Thompson wasn't there. This is all made up by Robbie Speers and Adrian Speers in terms of the alleged pointing of the gun and the wrestling of it away, the fist to cuffs [sic] that occurred and all of that?

Id. Thus the defense theory was denial and fabrication by the victims.

Finally, without quoting at length from the defense closing argument, the defense theory can be seen in a single rhetorical question "So is this a set up?" 3RP 432. Under the defense theory, then, Speers was a not-credible conspirator trying to set up Thompson. The defense thus placed credibility in issue in opening statement, asking the jury to "question their motives, question their objectivity, question what relationship they had with each other and what relationship they had with David Thompson." 1RP 159.

In sum, the story related by the Speers brothers and Sharp was consistent and substantial. Thompson does not claim here that the evidence in total was insufficient. The testimony of the three victims was unrebutted and overwhelming. Placing Speers's report of the incident in its necessary context served only to rebut the defense theory of fabrication. *See State v. Graham*, 59 Wn. App. 418, 424, 798 P.2d 314 (1990) (where defense is that witness is not telling the truth, state allowed to rebut that inference). Admission of testimony about his manner and demeanor was not error.

3. The issue was not preserved and is not a manifest constitutional issue.

Thompson lodged no objection to Harvey's comment about Speers's demeanor nor to the State's argument on the point. He claims that the issue may still be reviewed because it is an issue of manifest constitutional error. Thus, he may seek relief of this unpreserved issue under RAP 2.5 (a)(3). His sole ground for this argument is that Harvey's testimony was an "explicit or nearly explicit" opinion on the witness's credibility. Brief at 14-15 (citing Kirkman)

However, Thompson has not met his burden under *Kirkman*:

The defendant must identify a constitutional error and show how the alleged error actually affected the defendant's rights at trial. It is this showing of actual prejudice that makes the error "manifest," allowing appellate review.

Kirkman, 159 Wn.2d at 926-27. RAP 2.3 provides a narrow exception to the rule. Kirkman, 159 Wn.2d at 934-35. "Appellate courts will not approve a party's failure to object at trial that could identify error which the trial court might correct (through striking the testimony and/or curative instruction." Kirkman, 159 Wn.2d at 935. Further, a decision to object may be tactical. *Id.* Moreover, an error is not "manifest" absent a showing of actual prejudice. *Id.*; accord, Montgomery, 163 wn.2d at 595. There must be a "plausible showing by the defendant that the asserted error had practical and identifiable consequences in the trial of the case." Kirkman, 159 Wn.2d at 935.

Thompson fails to make such a showing of actual prejudice. It remains unclear how excision of that bit of Deputy Harvey's testimony would have changed the result. In *Kirkman*, the Supreme Court's researched its precedent:

No case of this court has held that a manifest error infringing a constitutional right necessarily exists where a witness expresses an opinion on an ultimate issue of fact that is not objected to at trial.

Kirkman, 159 Wn.2d at 935; see also Montgomery, 163 Wn.2d at 596 (even when the Supreme Court believes an objection would have been sustained, no actual prejudice found). Thus "[a]dmission of witness opinion testimony on an ultimate fact, without objection, is not automatically reviewable as a "manifest" constitutional error." Kirkman, 159 Wn.2d at 936. And, thus, the requirement alluded to by Thompson that manifest error requires a "nearly explicit statement by the witness that the witness believed the accusing victim." *Id*.

As has been seen, Deputy Harvey's testimony was in no wise an explicit assertion that he believed the witness. Thompson advances no argument as to how the result of the case was affected. Nor is there argument as to how the jury was or could be prejudiced in light of all the evidence in the case. As *Kirkman* noted, a jury is presumed to follow the instructions of the trial court and an appellate court should "[o]nly with the greatest reluctance and with the clearest cause ... consider second-guessing jury determinations or jury competence." *Kirkman*, 159 Wn.2d at 938. The same consideration was found to be important in *Montgomery*.

4. Any error would be harmless.

It has been established that this issue is not of constitutional magnitude. Even if it were, harmlessness could be established beyond a reasonable doubt. *See State v. Barr*, 123 Wn. App. 373, 383-84, 98 P.3d 518 (2004), *review denied*, 154 Wn.2d 1009 (2005). Thompson presented no evidence. The testimony of the three victims remained unrebutted. That is, there simply is no evidence in the record, tainted or otherwise, that supports Thompson's denial of the charge or his attempt to discredit the witnesses as to their accounts of the incident. The trial would have ended the same way without Harvey's brief testimony about Speers's demeanor.

But since the error was not of constitutional magnitude, the question is whether the error was prejudicial and "the error is not prejudicial unless, within reasonable probabilities, it materially affected the outcome of the trial." *State v. Wilbur*, 55 Wn. App. 294, 299, 777 P.2d 36 (1989). It did not. Under either standard, the admission of and argument about Harvey's observations was harmless.

5. The prosecution did not commit misconduct in closing.

Thompson claims that the State committed misconduct by arguing Harvey's statement vouched for Speers's credibility. Brief at 15. Notably, Thompson never quotes any passages from the prosecutor's closing that he claims constitute misconduct.

In closing, the prosecutor did argue that Harvey found Speers

credible. 3RP 421. She argued that given Harvey's observation of Speers's demeanor and manner, Speers "sounded truthful to Deputy Harvey." She made no personal statement of belief in Speers's truthfulness; she merely argued that Harvey's testimony was "evidence" that he was telling the truth. 3RP 421-22. And this was done in the context of a defense that questioned the credibility of all three of the State's percipient witnesses.

Trial court rulings on improper prosecution arguments generally are reviewed for abuse of discretion. Montgomery, 163 W.2d at 597. Here, the trial court could not exercise its discretion because Thompson did not object. "Failure to object to a prosecutor's improper remark constitutes waiver unless the remark is deemed to be so flagrant and illintentioned that it evinces an enduring and resulting prejudice that could not have been neutralized by an admonition to the jury." State v. Edvalds, 157 Wn. App. 517, 522, 237 P.3d 368 (2010) (citing State v. Belgarde, 110 Wn.2d 504, 507, 755 P.2d 174 (1988)). "The absence of an objection by defense counsel strongly suggests to a court that the argument or event in question did not appear critically prejudicial to an appellant in the context of the trial." Edvalds, 157 Wn. App. at 525-26. "A court must consider the comments in the context of the total argument, the issues in the case, the evidence addressed in the argument, and the instructions given to the jury." *Edvalds*, 157 Wn. App. at 522.

In *Edvalds*, the prosecutor prefaced impeachment questions to the defendant with the words "in truth." Other questions were prefaced with the phrase "you expect the jury to believe," and "you expect the jury to believe that you're being up front with them with that testimony; is that right?" Edvalds claimed that these questions constituted misconduct; but the Court of Appeals disagreed, holding

Edvalds fails to meet his burden to prove that the comments here were improper or that prejudice resulted. A prosecutor does not commit misconduct anytime he mentions credibility. It is improper for a prosecutor to make comments which express a personal opinion of witness veracity. But, a prosecutor may comment on a witness's veracity as long as a personal opinion is not expressed and as long as the comments are not intended to incite the passion of the jury. Because the prosecutor did not offer a personal opinion or incite the passion of the jury, the comments here do not rise to the level of the reversible comments made by the prosecutor in *Stith*.

Edvalds, 157 Wn. App. at 525 (internal citation omitted). The reference is to *State v. Stith*, 71 Wn. App. 517, 237 P.3d 368 (1993), wherein reversal was had when the prosecution argued that to believe the defendant was to call the police liars, that the defendant had only recently gotten out of prison, and that guilt was already established by a previous judicial finding of probable cause. *See Edvalds*, 157 Wn. App. at 525-26. Similarly, in the present case, the prosecutor's argument does not rise to the level of *Stith*.

In the present case, the prosecutor (or Harvey), as noted above, expressed no personal opinion as to Speers's credibility. The prosecutor

commits no misconduct merely because she argued credibility in a case where the entire defense was that the witnesses were not telling the truth. Moreover, it must be remembered that this is only argument and the jury was so instructed.

Greater latitude is given in closing argument than in cross examination. Counsel may comment on a witness's veracity or invite the jury to make reasonable inferences from the evidence so long as counsel does not express a personal opinion.

State v. Stover, 67 Wn. App. 228, 232, 834 P.2d 671 (1992). Moreover, the record is clear that the prosecutor's remarks were not ill-intentioned and intended to incite the passion of the jury. Thompson's failure to object raised his burden on this issue and he has not satisfied that burden.

C. THOMPSON'S LEGAL FINANCIAL OBLIGATIONS WERE IMPOSED WITHOUT OBJECTION AND THUS THE ISSUE IS NOT PRESERVED FOR APPEAL.

Thompson next claims that the trial court imposed various legal financial obligations without first inquiring as to Thompson's future ability to pay. This claim is without merit because it was not preserved below.

In *State v. Blazina*, 182 Wn.2d 827, 832, 344 P.3d 680 (2015), the Washington Supreme Court specifically held that it is not error for this Court to decline to reach the merits on a challenge to the imposition of

LFOs made for the first time on appeal. 182 Wn.2d 832. "Unpreserved LFO errors do not command review as a matter of right under *Ford* and its progeny." *Blazina*, 182 Wn.2d at 833 (*citing State v. Ford*, 137 wn.2d 472, 478, 973 P.2d 452 (1999)). The decision to review is discretionary with the reviewing court under RAP 2.5. *Blazina*, 182 Wn.2d at 835; *see also State v. Duncan*, 180 Wn. App. 246, 250-253, 327 P.3d 699 (2014), *review granted*, 183 Wn.2d 1013 (2015) (defendant's failure to object was not because the ability to pay was overlooked, rather the defendant reasonably waived the issue, considering "the apparent and unsurprising fact that many defendants do not make an effort at sentencing to suggest to the sentencing court that they are, and will remain, unproductive.").

RAP 2.5 reflects a policy which encourages the efficient use of judicial resources and discourages late claims that could have been corrected with a timely objection. *State v. Scott*, 110 Wn.2d 682, 685, 757 P.2d 492 (1988). *Duncan* appropriately balances the efficient use of judicial resources with fairness. Nor is there obvious error in the record. This Court should decline review of this issue.

IV. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, Thompson's conviction and sentence should be affirmed.